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DECISION 


La’Vor Holmes is not entitled to registration as a pharmacy technician because he violated the drug laws of the United States.  Holmes shall be placed on the Missouri Board of Pharmacy’s (“the Board”) employment disqualification list (“EDL”).  

Procedure


On January 27, 2004, the Board issued a decision placing Holmes’ name on the EDL and denying his application for registration as a pharmacy technician.  On February 13, 2004, Holmes filed a complaint appealing the Board’s decision.  The Board filed an answer on March 5, 2004.  


This Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on July 30, 2004.  Holmes represented himself.  Assistant Attorney General Zora Mulligan represented the Board.  We left the record open until August 16, 2004, for Holmes to file additional documents regarding his military service.  However, Holmes did not file any additional documents.  Although we set a 

schedule for filing written arguments, the last of which was due on November 12, 2004, the parties did not file written arguments.  

Findings of Fact


1.  In 2002, Holmes was serving in the U.S. Army and was stationed at Fort Riley, Kansas.  Holmes was dissatisfied because military service did not meet his expectations.  He was also distressed because a close family member was dying.  Holmes had sought treatment from mental health professionals in the Army, hoping to be released from military service.  However, his commanding officer did not feel that Holmes should be released.  For several months in early 2002, Holmes smoked marijuana at least three to five times a day to help cope with depression.  Holmes obtained the marijuana from a dealer in Junction City, Kansas.  He usually smoked it in a private place in Junction City and did not bring it onto the Army base.   


2.  The Army conducted a urinalysis of a sample that Holmes provided on June 27, 2002.  The sample tested positive for tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), the active ingredient of marijuana.  


3.  The Army took disciplinary action against Holmes.  He forfeited a portion of his salary, and his classification was reduced from level E-3 to E-1.
  Holmes was never court martialed or charged with the crime of drug possession in any court.  


4.  Holmes went to ADACP, a substance abuse program in the Army.


5.  Since his discharge from the Army in December 2002, Holmes has not participated in a drug rehabilitation program.    


6.  On March 25, 2003, Holmes filed his application with the Board for registration as a pharmacy technician.  In response to Question 2, “Have you ever:  . . . (c) Violated the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, or any other state or country, or the United States?”, Holmes checked the box for “No.”  


7.  At the time Holmes filed his application, he worked at a Walgreens store in St. Louis.  He no longer works there.  


8.  The Board’s investigation revealed the Army’s disciplinary action described in Finding 3.  Holmes received a letter from the Board asking him to explain his criminal offense.  However, Holmes did not respond to the letter.  


9.  Holmes no longer wishes to pursue a career as a pharmacy technician.  He currently attends Florissant Valley Community College.  At the time of the hearing, Holmes worked for a window manufacturing company through a temporary agency.  


10.  On January 27, 2004, the Board issued a decision stating:  

[I]t was ascertained that you were charged with wrongful use of a controlled substance, a violation of § 338.055.1.2(2), (6), (15).  You also failed to communicate with the board on a timely basis when contacted in writing, a violation of 4 CSR 220-2.700(4), (A).  

Pursuant to §§ 338.013.1 and .5, RSMo, the Board may deny registration as a pharmacy technician to an applicant who has violated § 338.055.1.2(2), (6), (15) and/or 4 CSR 220-2.700(4), (A) and may place that person’s name on an Employment Disqualification List. 

Based on the information obtained by the Board, the decision was made to deny your application for registration as a pharmacy technician and to place your name on the Employment Disqualification List.  As a result of this action, you may not be employed in a pharmacy as a technician.  If you comply with the requirements for communicating with the Board your name will remain on this list for a period of five (5) years, effective 30 days from the date of this letter.  If you fail to comply, your name will remain on the list indefinitely.  

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear Holmes’ complaint.  Sections 338.013.7 and 621.045.
  Holmes has the burden to show that he is entitled to registration as a pharmacy technician.  Section 621.120; Francois v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 880 S.W.2d 601, 603 (Mo. App., E.D. 1994).  However, the Board has the burden of proving that Holmes committed an act for which the law allows his name to be placed on the EDL.  See Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


When an applicant for licensure files a complaint, the agency’s answer provides notice of the grounds for denial of the application.  Ballew v. Ainsworth, 670 S.W.2d 94, 103 (Mo. App., E.D. 1984).
  


Section 338.055.1 and .2 provides: 

1.  The board may refuse to issue any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required pursuant to this chapter for one or any combination of causes stated in subsection 2 of this section. . . .  

2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by this chapter or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his certificate of registration or authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   * 

(2) The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal 

prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed; 

*   *   * 

(6) Violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of this chapter, or any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter; 

*   *   * 

(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]

In addition, § 338.013.1 provides:  


Any person desiring to assist a pharmacist in the practice of pharmacy as defined in this chapter shall apply to the board of pharmacy for registration as a pharmacy technician.  Such applicant shall not have engaged in conduct or behavior determined to be grounds for discipline pursuant to this chapter.  

Section 338.013.5 provides:  


The board shall maintain an employment disqualification list of the names of all pharmacy technicians who have been adjudicated and found guilty, or have entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to violation of any state, territory or federal drug law, been found guilty, pled nolo contendere to any felony or have violated any provision of subdivision (2), (3), (4), (6), (7), (11), (12), or (15) of subsection 2 of section 338.055.  

I.  Statutory Grounds Under § 338.055.2

A.  Criminal Prosecution


The Army took administrative disciplinary action against Holmes for his marijuana possession.  Holmes has never been criminally prosecuted for marijuana possession.  Therefore, there is no cause to deny him registration or place him on the EDL under § 338.055.2(2).
  

B.  Violation of Regulation


Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.700(4) provides:  

Any person whose name appears on the board of pharmacy employment disqualification list shall be barred from employment as a pharmacy technician except as provided in section (5) of this rule.  


(A) Information on the disqualification list shall include, at a minimum, the name and last known residential address of the person disqualified, as well as any previous registration number, the date on which the person’s name was entered on the list and the date at which time the person will again become eligible for employment in a pharmacy.  The board may place a person on the disqualification list for an indefinite period of time if the disqualified person fails to maintain a current mailing address with the board or fails to communicate with the board on a timely basis when contacted in writing by the board.  

The Board asserts that Holmes may be denied registration and placed on the EDL under § 338.055.2(6) for violating Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.700(4)(A) by failing to communicate with the Board when contacted in writing by the Board.  However, Regulation 4 CSR 220-2.700(4)(A) sets forth the information that is included on the EDL and explains that the length of time a person is on the EDL may be indefinite if the “disqualified person” fails to maintain a current mailing address with the Board or fails to communicate with the Board on a timely basis when contacted in writing by the Board.  By referring to a person who is already “disqualified,” this portion of the regulation does not provide an independent basis for placing a person on the list.  Regulation 220-2.700(2) and (3) provide that registered technicians and applicants are responsible for notifying the Board of a change in residential and employment addresses.  The obligation in Regulation 220-2.700(4)(A) to apprise the Board of the current address and communicate with the Board when contacted in writing by the Board applies to those on the EDL who are not registered technicians or applicants.  Regulation 220-2.700(4)(A) governs the 

administration of the EDL and is not an independent provision that may be violated and thus provide cause for placement on the EDL.


There is no cause to deny registration or place Holmes on the EDL pursuant to 

§ 338.055.2(6).  

C.  Violation of Drug Laws or Regulations


Section 338.055.2(15) provides that registration may denied, and Holmes may be placed on the EDL, for:  

[v]iolation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]

Quoting § 195.202.1, the Board asserts that “[u]nauthorized possession of a controlled substance is a violation of the drug laws of Missouri.”  While that general proposition is true, there is no evidence that Holmes ever possessed marijuana in Missouri and thus violated the drug laws of this state.  The Board alleges no violation of Kansas law.  


However, the Board also asserts that the unauthorized possession of a controlled substance is a violation of the drug laws of the United States.  21 USC § 844(a) provides:  

Unlawful acts; penalties.  It shall be unlawful for any person to knowingly or intentionally possess a controlled substance unless such substance was obtained directly, or pursuant to a valid prescription or order, from a practitioner, while acting in the course of his professional practice, or except as otherwise authorized by this chapter or subchapter II of this chapter.  

Marijuana is a controlled substance under federal law.  21 CSR 1308.11(d)(22).  Holmes obtained the marijuana from a dealer, not from a medical practitioner.  Therefore, Holmes violated the drug laws of the United States, and there is cause to deny him registration and place him on the EDL.  

II.  Placement on the EDL and Denial of Registration  


Section 338.055.1, which applies generally to pharmacy licenses and registrations issued under Chapter 338, RSMo, provides that the Board may refuse to issue a certificate of registration, permit or license for any of the causes enumerated in subsection 2.  The word “may” in § 338.055.1 means discretion, not a mandate.  State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  We may exercise the same degree of discretion that the Board exercised.  Id. at 614-15.  


Section 338.013 sets forth the specific requirements for registration as a pharmacy technician.  338.013.1 provides that an applicant “shall not have engaged in conduct or behavior determined to be grounds for discipline pursuant to this chapter.”  Section 338.013.5 requires the Board to maintain the EDL of all persons who have “violated any provision of subdivision (2), (3), (4), (6), (7), (11), (12), or (15) of subsection 2 of section 338.055.”   These provisions might appear to allow no discretion if an applicant has ever engaged in conduct or behavior that would be grounds for discipline under § 338.055.2.  However, § 338.013.6 requires the Board to give notice of its intent to place a person on the EDL, and subsection 7 continues:  

If no reply has been received by the board within thirty days after the board mailed the notice, the board may include the name of such person on such disqualification list. . . . The board may, also, provide for alternative sanctions, including, but not limited to, conditional employment based on a requirement that the person submit certain documentation within a certain period of time. . . .

(Emphasis added).  


Therefore, when § 338.013 is read as a whole, the Board, or this Commission on review, could exercise discretion in favor of granting registration as a pharmacy technician, subject to certain conditions, rather than denying the application.  The Board’s Regulation 220-2.700(5) effectuates § 338.013.7, providing: 


Any person whose name appears on the disqualification list may be employed as a pharmacy technician subject to any restrictions or conditions ordered by the board.  As an alternative to barring an individual from employment in a pharmacy, the board may consider restricted forms of employment or employment under special conditions for any person who has applied for or holds a registration as a pharmacy technician.

(Emphasis added).  


Holmes argues that he only smoked marijuana to get out of the military because his commanding officer would not allow him to be released on the basis of a mental health condition.  However, in his sworn statement to the Army investigator, Holmes stated that he smoked marijuana at least three to five times a day for several months to help cope with depression.  Holmes argues that he was depressed because of his military duty and that he no longer abuses controlled substances.  He asserts that he is now busy with school and work and is keeping his life on track.  However, Holmes admitted to heavy substance abuse for a lengthy period of time, slightly over two years ago, and he has not gone through any rehabilitation program since his release from the Army.  We are somewhat skeptical as to whether Holmes has taken sufficient action to develop positive coping strategies to prevent a recurrence of such abuse.  


Holmes also argues that he no longer works in a pharmacy and no longer intends to pursue a career in pharmacy.  He states that he wishes to be an engineer, and he is pursuing this case so he can clean up his record and proceed with his chosen profession.  We agree that Holmes should not be hounded by his past if he continues to maintain the positive changes in his life.  The purpose of the licensing laws is not to punish people, but to protect the public.  Wasem v. Missouri Dental Bd., 405 S.W.2d 492, 497 (Mo. App., St.L. 1966).  However, “the license 

granted places the seal of the state’s approval upon the licen[see.]"  State ex rel. Lentine v. State Bd. of Health, 65 S.W.2d 943, 950 (Mo. 1933).  Even if Holmes does not intend to work in a pharmacy, granting him registration as a pharmacy technician would give him the right to do so and would place the State’s seal of approval on him to do so.  We are reluctant to do this when Holmes admits to heavy substance abuse slightly over two years ago, and he has not been in rehabilitation since his discharge from the Army.  Therefore, we deny Holmes’ application for registration as a pharmacy technician, and we uphold the Board’s decision to place Holmes on the EDL.  Because Holmes does not currently intend to work as a pharmacy technician, an alternative sanction, such as employment under certain conditions, would not serve any public protection purpose under the statutes.

Summary


We deny Holmes’ application for registration as a pharmacy technician, and we uphold the Board’s decision to place Holmes on the EDL.  
  


SO ORDERED on December 30, 2004.



________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP



Commissioner

	�At the hearing, the Board requested that its Exhibit A be maintained as a closed record pursuant to a request by the military, which provided the information.  We took the Board’s request under advisement.  Section 610.021(13), RSMo 2000, allows personnel records to be maintained as closed records.  We grant the Board’s request and will maintain Exhibit A as a sealed record.  


�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.





	�The Board’s answer states that Holmes answered “No” on his application in response to the question of whether he had ever violated the drug laws or rules of this or any other state or the United States.  However, because the Board’s answer does not cite any provision of law allowing denial of the application or placement on the EDL on the basis of a false answer on the application, we cannot deny the application or place Holmes on the EDL on that basis.  Ballew v. Ainsworth, 670 S.W.2d 94, 103 (Mo. App., E.D. 1984); see also Sander v. Missouri Real Estate Comm’n, 710 S.W.2d 896, 901 (Mo. App., E.D. 1986).  


	�The Board’s counsel conceded at the hearing that “this wasn’t technically a criminal prosecution.”  (Tr. at 34.)  


	�However, if Holmes chooses to pursue another licensed profession in the future, we believe that his past mistakes should not foreclose him from that pursuit, as long as he maintains the positive changes in his life.  A licensing agency, or this Commission on review, may be able to exercise discretion in favor of granting Holmes a professional license.    
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